STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 07 2015

Appeal From The Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas From Orders of  
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.,  
Fifth Judicial Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2015-000740

Case No.(s): 2013-CP-40-03078  
2007-CP-40-03742

Subsequent Interlocutory Order of (Former) Circuit Court Judge,  
Honorable J. Michelle Childs:

Case No.(s): 2007-CP-40-03742  
2009-CP-40-02442

Subsequent Interlocutory Order of Circuit Court Judge,  
Honorable De Andrea Gist Benjamin:

Case No.: 2009-CP-40-02442

Clarence S. Gregory, . . . . . Appellant,

Verses

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "erred" In His Findings In, Time Barring Appellants' Claims or Causes of Action, Under The Statutory of Limitation, When Appellant Filed Notice And Motion Under The Doctrine of Equitable Tolling And Equitable Estoppel?"

II.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "erred" In Denying And Not Permitting Appellant, By Motion For Leave To Amend His Complaint Before Defendants' were Served, Appellants' Summons And Complaint?"

III.

"Whether The Two (2), Original Prior Unappealed Orders Are Binding Upon Respondents' In Subsequent Motion Proceedings, Under Doctrine of The Law of Case, As A Result For The Lack of Jurisdiction?"

IV.

"Whether One (1) Circuit Court Judge Has The Power, Authority , Jurisdiction To Review, Modify, Reverse or Overrule The Finding of Another Circuit Court Judge, Involving The Same Stated Facts, Issues, Defense or The Same Subject Matter, In The Same Action?"

V.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "erred" In His Findings, In Raising "Case Law," Dorrell verses South Carolina Department of Transportation," Absent From Implied-Consent Pleadings, Which Was Not Before Him, And Plead, "Case Law," Hill verses York County Sheriff Department, Was Implied-Consent Before The Court?"

VI.

"Whether The Subsequent Presiding Courts, Judge J. Michelle Childs (Former) Circuit Court Judge, "Lacked The Jurisdiction of Subject Matter, To Review And To Reverse The Original "Unappealed" Findings of Judge G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., And "Whether Judge De Andrea Gist Benjamin, "Lacked Jurisdiction of Subject Matter, To Review And Reverse The Original "Unappealed " Findings of (Former) Circuit Court Judge, J. Michelle Childs?"

VII.

"Whether The Respondents' Action In Both Cases, In 2007-CP-09-03742, And In, 2009-CP-40-02462, Pleading The Same Stated Facts, Issues, Defenses, And Arguments In A Subsequent Proceeding In The Same Action, "Gave Rise" To Causes of Action of "Abuse of Legal Process?"

Pg. 01-OF 50

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL, CONTINUED

VIII.

"Whether The Respondents' Had A Duty To Disclose The Material Facts To The Subsequent Court, Those Facts That Previous "Existed" On The Clerk of Courts' Record, And Whether The Respondents' Acted In "Bad-Faith," For Failure To Disclose Those Facts To The Subsequent Courts, Before Those Two (2) Courts Made Its' Determination, Which Resulted To The "Outcome" of The Proceedings?"

IX.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "Erred" In His Findings, By Dismissing With Prejudice Appellant's Claims or Causes of Action of Duplicity?"

X.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "Erred" In His Findings By Dismissing With Prejudice Appellant's Claims or Causes of Action of Unclean-Hands?"

XI.

"Whether The Presiding Judge "Erred" In His Findings By Dismissing With Prejudice Appellant's Claims or Causes of Action of Civil Conspiracy?"

Pg. 02 of 50

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the final interlocutory Order of presiding Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., in the Court of Common Pleas, of the Fifth (5th) Judicial Circuit, granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, under Rule 12 (b)(6), of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedures; (See, ROA p. 5-14). (Volume I).

Appellant, by the way of pro'se, filed his summons and complaint against the Respondents' for numerous cause or causes of action, specifically alleging that the Respondents' "knowingly and wilfully, misled and misrepresented the facts and material facts," previously presented to "both" subsequent Courts, and as a result, the Respondents' caused "both" subsequent Courts to "erroneously," review, reverse and to overrule, both original "first unappealed prior Orders of the first hearings; (See, ROA pp. 67-141). (Volume I.).

Thus, Respondents' now argues, that the two (2), subsequent "deposition testimonies of Appellant," which were previously submitted to "both" subsequent Courts were "additional evidence," in support of Respondents' two (2), subsequent motions for summary judgments; (See, ROA p. 12, lines 14-21). (Volume I).

Based upon those additional facts, represented by Respondents before those two (2) previous, subsequent Courts, both Courts "relied" upon the representations, and granted two (2), summary judgments in favor of Respondents' and dismissed Appellants' claims and causes of action, in both cases, 2007-CP-40-03742 and 2009-CP-40-02442; (See, ROA pp. 20-23, Volume I, pp. 43-55, Volume I).

The lower Court in the case, 2013-CP-40-03078, also dismissed Appellant's action with prejudice; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 43-55).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS, IN THE MATTER OF, 2013-CP-40-03078:

This case 03078, surrounds and involves two (2), previous cases, case 2007-CP-40-03742, and case, 2009-CP-40-02442.

In this present case 03078, the Respondents' pled a defense against appellants' cause or causes of action, under the statutory limitation period, Rule 8 (c), of the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure, on/or about, June 13, 2013; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 272-274).

The Appellant asserts, that on/or about, October 15, 2012, he filed a summons and complaint under the statutory provisions of § 24-27-100 through 150, of the S.C. Code of Laws, in the "In forma pauperis status," against the Respondents', under the provisions of § 15-3-530, et seq., for claims or causes of action of Fraud, Fraudulent conduct, civil conspiracy, abuse of legal process, bad-faith, doctrine of unclean-hands, judge shopping, under the doctrine of duplicity and breach of solemnly oath of office; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 66-141, pp. 212-229; and Volume II, ROA pp. 258-259);

Under the provision of filing in-forma-pauperis status, § 24-27-100 thru 150, it allows a party to file their complaints and debit their accounts (as an incarcerated person) even if

pg. 04 of 50

a party does not presently have sufficient funds in their account (While being incarcerated within the prison system);

Contrary to Appellants' filing and request as permitted by the aforesaid statute provision, on/or about, October 27, 2012, (See, Returned Legal Correspondance Letter from Ms. Judy N. Davis, Civil Manager Record Division, Richland County, Court of Common Pleas), Ms. Davis, interferred with the process of in-forma-pauperis, not understanding and knowing how it function, and did not permit Appellant to file his summons and complaint, and returned the summons and complaint to the Appellant on many occasion; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 212-229; Volume II, ROA pp. 258 and 259;

That, as a result, of any success of filing with the Court, as aforesaid (Richland County Court of Common Pleas, Fifth Judicial Center), because of Ms. Davis' inactions.

That, on/or about, January 31, 2013, Appellant filed a "Petition For A Writ of Mandamus," with the S.C. Supreme Court, against the respective Ms. Judy N. Davis, Clerk of Court's in-action; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 230-259, Writ of Mandamus).

That, as a result of filing the aforesaid "writ," on/or about, February 21, 2013, the Chief Justice, Honorable Jean H. Toal, of the S.C. Supreme Court, returned a letter of disposition, and asked the respective Clerk of Court, Jeanette W. McBride, to return a response, specifically addressing why she (Ms. McBride, Clerk of Court), did not allow Appellant to file his summons and complaint under the statutory provision of § 24-27-100 thru 150, within five (5) days of the letter; (See,

Volume II, ROA pp. 256 and 257; Letter of Honorable Jean H. Toal, Chief Justice of The S.C. Supreme Court, Dated February 21, 2013).

In response to the aforesaid letter, Mr. Larry C. Smith, from the Richland County Attorney's office, on/or about, February 27, 2013, sent a letter to the Honorable Jean H. Toal, Chief Justice, to the S.C. Supreme Court in behalf of respective Jeanette W. McBride, Clerk of Court, Richland County and to the Appellant, apologizing for Ms. Davis' inaction; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 258 and 259); Letter of Mr. Larry C. Smith, Attorney for Richland County;

Mr. Smith, asked the Appellant, in behalf of the Clerk of Court, to return his summons and complaint for filing purposes (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 258 and 259);

That, on/or about, May 22, 2013, the Clerk of Courts' office filed Appellant's summons and complaint, even so, the circumstance was outside of Appellant's control; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 67 and 68; pp. 139-141; Appellant's Filed Summons and Complaint);

That, on/or about, June 13, 2013, Respondents' returned their disposition, filing a Notice and Motion to Dismiss, under Rule 12 (b)(6), of the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 272-274; pp. 275-291; Volume IV, ROA pp. 606-635); And on/or about, June 26, 2013, Appellant served and filed upon Respondents' a Notice and Motion to Oppose, under the doctrine of Equitable Tolling, Equitable Tolling and Gap Tolling; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 275-291; Volume IV, ROA

pp. 606-635); Appellant's Notice/Motion To Oppose);

That, on/or about,, April 24, 2014, a motion hearing was held at the Richland County, Court of Common Pleas, before presiding Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.; and during the afore-said hearing, the presiding Court asked the Appellant, "what are his (Appellant's) complaint is all about?" (See, Volume I, ROA p. 506, lines 17-21 (Transcript of Record, Case 2013-CP-40-03078));

Specifically, Appellant asserted, that on/or about, January 10, 2008, in the case of 2007-CP-40-03742, a motion hearing was held before the same respective presiding Court (Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.), and both parties, the Respondents as legal counsel for Defendants' SCDC, and Appellant pro'se, represented himself, and submitted their issues, defenses and arguments;

That, on/or about, January 14, 2008, by Order, the presiding Court ruled, that "matters under advisement; (See, Volume I, ROA p. 65; Judge Thomas Cooper, Jr., 's Order);

Furthermore, on/or about, March 26, 2008, by Order of the same Court (Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.), ruled, "Based upon the submissions of the Pro'se Plaintiff and Defendants,' there are issue of facts to be resolved at trial," and the presiding Court denied Defendants' motion for summary judgment; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 63-64; Case 2007-CP-40-03742);

In that matter, Defendants' did not filed notice and motion to amend or reconsider, under Rule 52, or 59 (e), of the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure; Defendants' did not "appealed the presiding Court's Order, dated March 26, 2008; Instead of appeal-

-ing the Court's Order, on/or about, August 2008, said Defendants' filed notice and motion for a deposition, which convened on/or about, October 15, 2008; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 409-413); Letter from Riley Pope & Laney, LLC, Law Firm, Defendants' Counsel Heath M. Stewart, III, Dated August 01, August 18, and September 26, 2008, Notice of Deposition);

The Deposition hearing as a result, repeated the same questions, interrogatories, as it did in the Plaintiff's request for discoveries matter, prior to the March 26, 2008, adjudication hearing; (See, Volume III, ROA pp. 561-597); (Deposition Hearing Transcript of Record, Case 2007-CP-40-03742); Also See, Plaintiff -'s Discoveries Volume III, ROA pp. 475-502);

That, on/or about, May 07, 2009, Defendants' Counsel Heath McAlvin Stewart, III (who, is Respondent in this action 2013-CP-40-03078), filed a second subsequent notice and motion for summary judgment, "re-litigating" the same issues, facts, defense and arguments, as Defendants' counsel submitted in the January 10, 2008, adjudication hearing; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 414-425; Defendants' Counsel Subsequent Notice/Motion For Summary Judgment, Case 2007-CP-40-03742);

That, on/or about, January 14, 2010, a motion for summary judgment subsequent hearing was held at the Broad River Correctional Institution, Via Courtroom area, before the (former) presiding Honorable J. Michelle Childs, who, currently succeeded and presides as a Federal U.S. District Court Judge, in the District of Greenville County, Greenville, South Carolina;

During the said hearing and as it is recorded in the (former) presiding Court's June 10, 2010, Order, that Defendants' counsel Heath M. Stewart, III, contended and raised as a defense, that Plaintiff's (Appellants') claims is "barred" by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, "exclusive remedy," provision; (See, Volume I, ROA p. 51, ¶ 03, Line 03; p. 52, Lines 1-2; Judge J. Michelle Childs' Order, June 10, 2010, Case 2007-CP-40-03742);

During the aforesaid hearing, at the same time, Appellant made an verbal "objection," to Defendants' counsel Stewart, III, affirmative defense; (See, Volume II, ROA pp. 426-431; Appellant's Notice/Motion To Oppose/Barr Defendants' counsel Affirmative Defense; See, Also Judge Childs' Order, Volume I, ROA p. 53, ¶ 02, Lines 1-7); Rule 43, (L), SCACP;

Contrary to Appellant's objection to Defendants' counsel defense, Defendants' counsel Stewart, III and Respondent objected and disputed against Appellant's objection, asserting on the grounds that, "Defendants' did not raised the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act "exclusivity" in the previous summary judgment Order; (See, Volume I, ROA p. 54, ¶ 01, Lines 08-10; Volume II, ROA p. 262, ¶ 02, Lines 03-07; Judge Childs' Order, Dated June 10, 2010, Case 2007-CP-40-03742);

The Richland County, Court of Common Pleas, Clerk's filed record clearly demonstrates, and established that on/or about, September 06, 2007, said Defendants' counsel LeRoy Free Laney, who is Respondents' in this matter, case 2013-CP-40-03078, filed his "Answer" pled and raised in (Volume I, ROA p. 198, ¶ 36, Lines 01-03), as an "affirmative defense," For a Fifteenth (15th)

Lines 01-03), as an "affirmative defense," For A Fifteenth (15th) Defense, provided:

¶ 36: "The Plaintiff is "barred" from recovery under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act as the Act provides for an "exclusive remedy" for injuries such as Plaintiff allegedly sustained." (See, Volume I, ROA p. 198, ¶ 36, Lines 01-03, Defendants' Counsel LeRoy F. Laney's Filed Answer, Dated September 06, 2007); (See, Also Appellant's filed "Reply" against Defendants' counsel Answer, Dated September 24, 2007, Case 2007-CP-40-03742); (Volume I, ROA pp. 200-202); p. 201, ¶ 02-05);

That, on/or about, June 10, 2010, the (former) presiding subsequent Court (Honorable J. Michelle Childs), "relied" upon Defendants' counsel's (Respondents') representation as aforesaid and granted summary judgment to Defendants' and dismissed Appellant's claims; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 43-55; See, p. 53; Judge J. Michelle Childs' Order, Dated June 10, 2010, Case 2007-CP-40-03742);

IN THE MATTER OF CASE, 2009-CP-40-02442

That, on/or about, April 02, 2009, Appellant filed summons and complaint against the South Carolina Department of Corrections for grossly negligent § 15-78-60 (25), and for intentional assault and battery, § 15-3-530 (5), et seq; (See, Volume I, ROA pp. 182-189);

That, on/or about, May 18, 2009, Defendants' counsel, Heath M. Stewart, III, (who is Respondent in this case, 03078), filed his "Answer" to the aforesaid complaint;

Pg. 10 of 50

(See, Volume I., ROA pp. 203-211; Defendants' counsel filed Answer, Dated May 18, 2009, Case 2009-CP-40-02442);

That, on/or about, October 07, 2009, Defendants' counsel Heath M. Stewart, III (Who is Respondent in this action, 2013-CP-40-03078), filed Notice and Motion for summary judgment and Appellant filed his Opposing Motion, Affidavits and other materials; (See, Volume II., ROA pp. 352-363; pp. 364-374; & Volume III., ROA pp. 455-470;

That, on/or about, January 14, 2010, a motion hearing was held at the Broad River Correctional Institution, Via Courtroom area, before (former) respective Circuit Court Judge, J. Michelle Childs; and both parties presented their issues, defenses and arguments; (See, Volume II., ROA pp. 377-379;

That, on/or about, April 05, 2010, the (former) presiding Court as aforesaid in paragraph ¶ 02, of this page 40, by Order, found and determined that, "Plaintiff has pled a cause of action for grossly negligent against the Defendants' (SCDC); the same Court also found and determined that, "Plaintiff has stated a cause of action upon which relief can be granted for intentional assault and battery against the Defendants'; (See, Volume I., ROA p. 36, ¶ 02, lines 01-02; p. 36, ¶ 03, lines 09-10; p. 37, Top of Page, lines 01 and 02); (Honorable J. Michelle Childs' Order, Case 2009-CP-40-02442, Dated April 05, 2010); Volume I., ROA pp. 32-42;

Furthermore, the (former) presiding Court found and determined that, "Both parties have alleged facts that have "created" a genuine issue of material facts, etc; (See, Volume I., ROA

p. 38, ¶ 02, Lines 12-15; (Honorable J. Michelle Childs' Order);

Contrary to the (former) circuit court Judges' Order, as aforesaid, the Defendants' counsel Stewart, III, chose not to file motion to amend or reconsider, the ruling in the Order, under Rule 52 and 59 (e), of the S.C. Rules of Civil Procedure, which ruling was against Defendants'; nor or neither did the Defendants' counsel Stewart, III, appeal the (former) presiding Court's April 05, 2010, Order; but instead, filed a notice and motion for deposition; (See, Volume II., ROA pp. 379-383);

That, on/or about, May 14, 2010, a deposition hearing was held at the Broad River Correctional Institution, Via Courtroom area, and as a result, the deposition "repeated" the same issues, facts and questions, as it involved Appellants' prior discovery responses and requests; (See, Volume II., pp. 439-454; Volume III., pp. 455-475; pp. 561-581);

That, on/or about, February 23, 2011, Defendants' counsel Nikole H. Boland (who is Respondents' in this action, Case 2013-CP-40-02442), became a substitute legal counsel for the Defendants' (South Carolina Department of Corrections, Etc; to replace Respondent, Heath M. Stewart, III, reasons believe to "resign" from the Law Firm of Riley Pope & Laney, LLC;

That, on/or about, February 23, 2011, said Respondent Boland as legal counsel filed a subsequent notice and motion for summary judgment; and opposing to Respondents' said motion, Appellant filed notice and motion; (See, Volume II., ROA pp. 384-386; pp. 387-390);

That, on/or about, August 31, 2011, a subsequent motion for summary judgment hearing was convened and held at the Rich-land County, Court of Common Pleas, before a subsequent and presiding Judge, Honorable De Andrea Gist Benjamin; Respondent, Boland as legal counsel for Defendants' (SCDC), presented to the presiding Court and to the Appellant a "Memorandum In Support" of their aforesaid motion, and in which the Memorandum identified the "same" stated facts, issues, defenses and argument as the Defendants' counsel Stewart, III, presented in the "first-original" motion hearing, conducted before the (former) pre-siding Honorable J. Michelle Childs, in the January 14, 2010; (See, Volume II., ROA pp. 356-363; pp. 391-401; pp. 402-403); Defendants' Counsel Nikole H. Boland's August 31, 2011, Memorandum In Support);

During that proceeding, Appellant tried to explain to the presiding subsequent Court that the subject matters, which Defendants' counsel Boland intends to present has already been previously addressed before the (former) presiding Honorable J. Michelle Childs and to presiding Honorable L. Casey Manning, but on the contrary, the subsequent hearing Court (Respective, Judge Benjamin), orally rule over the bench, it's court, will hear Defendants' counsel Boland's (Respondent Boland's) said motion; (See, Volume III., ROA pp. 533-534; pp. 553-554); Appellant's Transcript of Record In Case, 2009-CP-40-02442);

That, on/or about, October 17, 2011, by Order, the

Pg. 13 OF 50

respective subsequent Court as aforesaid, "over-ruled" the first original ruling in the Order of (former) presiding Honorable J. Michelle Childs; in which, the prior Order of (former) Judge Childs dated April 05, 2010, was not appealed by Defendants' counsel Stewart, III or Boland, in the 2009-CP-40-02442, case;

However, the subsequent respective presiding Court (Judge Benjamin), granted Defendants' counsel Boland's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Appellant's claims and causes of action; (See, Volume I., ROA pp. 19-23; Honorable De Andrea G. Benjamin's Order, Dated October 17, 2011);

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