RECEIVED

Jul 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Judge Patrick C. Fant, III

Case No2021CP0201525

Dr. Joe Holt,

Appellant,

v.

Rural Health Services, Inc.,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

July 25, 2025

s/ D. Randle Moody, II

D. Randle Moody, II (S.C. Bar No. 14135)

Laura A. Ahrens (S.C. Bar No. 104785)

Randy.moody@jacksonlewis.com

Laura.ahrens@jacksonlewis.com

JACKSON LEWIS P.C.

15 South Main Street, Suite 700

Greenville, SC 29601

Phone: (864) 232-7000

Fax: (864) 235-1381

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Should Affirm Judge Fant's Ruling Because Appellant's Defamation Claim is Unsupported by Record Evidence.

The Aiken County Court of Common Pleas correctly granted Respondent's motion for summary judgment as to Appellant's defamation claim because there were no genuine issues of material fact to support Appellant's defamation claim. The Court of Common Pleas reviewed all the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellant, and correctly found that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to Appellant's defamation claim. The Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III heard and fully considered all the arguments that Appellant continues to make in his Initial Brief. Judge Fant's Order granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment thoroughly addresses all of the arguments Appellant repackaged in his Initial Brief. Appellant continues to rehash arguments here that did not persuade Magistrate Judge Shiva Hodges or Judge Fant, which should not persuade this Court now. For the reasons detailed below, the Court should affirm Judge Fant's December 13, 2024 Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent and dismiss Appellant's defamation claim.

"The tort of defamation allows plaintiffs to recover for injuries to their reputation as the result of defendants' communications to others of falsities regarding the plaintiffs." *Cruce v. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 435 S.C. 7, 18, 865 S.E.2d 391, 397 (S.C. Ct. App. 2021), *reh'g denied* (Dec. 2, 2021), cert. granted (Sept. 7, 2022) (citing *Boone v. Sunbelt Newspapers, Inc.*, 347 S.C. 571, 580, 556 S.E.2d 732, 737 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001)). Under South Carolina law, to state a cause of action for defamation, a plaintiff must show the existence of some message that (1) is defamatory, (2) is published with actual or implied malice, (3) is false, (4) is published by the defendant, (5) concerned the plaintiff, and (6) resulted in legally presumed or in special damages. *Parker v. Evening Post Pub. Co.*, 452 S.E.2d 640, 644 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994). Malice and damages are

presumed in the case where the defamation is actionable per se. See *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 506 S.E.2d 497, 502; *see also id.* (“In other words, if the trial judge can legally presume, because of the nature of the statement, that the plaintiff’s reputation was hurt as a consequence of its publication, then the libel is actionable per se. Essentially, all libel is actionable per se.”) (citations omitted).

Appellant realleges in his Initial Brief that “Respondent made false and defamatory statements about Appellant to parents of Appellant’s patients” and identifies two allegedly defamatory incidents. Appellant’s Initial Br. at 1. The first alleged defamatory statement that Appellant directs the Court to is provided in a brief video recording of a patient’s mother¹. In the video, the patient’s mother states that at some unknown time, she was told, by an unknown person at the front desk, that Appellant was racist. (R. pp. 293-294). In the video, Appellant, not the unknown speaker, identifies the person who allegedly makes the comment as “Sheryl Lynn.” *See id.* Appellant also alleges that “Respondent defamed Appellant in word and by falsely accusing him of incompetence in his profession and engaging in conduct that he did not, which is defamation per se.” *Id.* at 10. Appellant has not provided any evidence to date that the alleged employee made the alleged statement besides Appellant’s identification of the alleged employee in the recording.

As to the first statement, as Judge Fant correctly found, this statement is inadmissible in the form submitted and the statement lacks the necessary specificity to state a claim for defamation. *See* December 13, 2024, Order at 6. The patient’s parent fails to state who made any allegedly

¹ It is unclear to Respondent whether Appellant has provided the identity of the patient and the patient’s parent to the Court. While the case was pending in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas, Appellant provided the alleged identity of the patient and the patient’s parent in sealed documents submitted to the court.

defamatory statement, what was allegedly said, or when such statements were made or to whom.² *Id.* Under South Carolina law, an individual’s defamation claim is appropriate for summary judgment and should be dismissed when the alleged defamatory statements lack necessary specificity, as is the case here. *See Paradis v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 424 S.C. 603, 613-14, 819 S.E.2d 147, 153 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018), *abrogated on other grounds* (affirming the trial court’s order granting dismissal of plaintiff’s defamation claim because “she never indicate[d] who made defamatory statements about her, what they said, or to whom those statements were published.”); *McNeil v. S.C. Dep’t. of Corr.*, 404 S.C. 186, 195, 743 S.E.2d 843, 848 (S.C. Ct. App. 2013) (affirming the trial court’s order granting dismissal of plaintiff’s defamation claim because “she did not set forth with any specificity what the alleged false statements were” who made the alleged statements, and who they were made to); *Carson v. Emergency MD, LLC*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 154559, at *5 (D.S.C. Aug. 25, 2020) (“Many courts applying South Carolina law have found that a lack of specificity in a plaintiff’s allegations regarding a defamation claim warrants dismissal.”); *Doe v. Cannon*, C/A No. 2:16-00530-RMG, 2017 WL 591121, at *1 (D.S.C. Feb. 14, 2017) (“Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against [Defendants] for defamation because her Complaint does not state with specificity the time, place, medium, and listener of the alleged defamatory statements.”). *See R.* pp. 69-70.

Judge Fant further found that in the context as alleged by Appellant, the isolated statement, that Appellant is racist, may not be defamatory. *Id.* at 70, lines 11-12. As stated by the South Carolina Supreme Court:

² In addition, as Respondent clarified in briefing on its Motion for Summary Judgment to the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas, the woman in the indecipherable video was never identified by Appellant, and to date, she was never identified as a witness in this case, and so Respondent has not been able to depose the unidentified woman.

Petitioners correctly contend that calling someone a racist can be defamatory depending on the context. In this regard, we reject any suggestion that calling someone a racist can never be defamatory. *See* 50 Am. Jur. 2d Libel and Slander § 200 (2017) (“Courts have readily held allegations of racism . . . to constitute libel per se, at least when founded on specific incidents.”); 3 Dan. B. Dobbs et al., *The Law of Torts* § 572 (2d ed. 2011) (“While ‘racist’ is sometimes said to be mere name-calling and not actionable in some contexts, the term can be actionable where it plainly imputes acts based on racial discrimination.” (footnote omitted)); *MacElree v. Phila. Newspapers, Inc.*, 544 Pa. 117, 674 A.2d 1050, 1055 (1996) (“Although accusations of racism have been held not to be actionable defamation, it cannot be said that every such accusation is not capable of defamatory meaning as a matter of law.”).

Garrard for R.C.G. v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist., No. 2020-000605, 2023 WL 3731173, at *1 (S.C. May 31, 2023); *see also id.* at n.2 (“*La Liberte v. Reid*, 966 F.3d 79, 93 (2d Cir. 2020) (“[The defendant] did not merely accuse [the plaintiff] of being ‘racist’ in some abstract sense. Rather, [the defendant’s social media post] could be understood as an ‘accusation of concrete, wrongful conduct,’ which can be proved to be either true or false. That makes it potentially defamatory.”) *Id.*

The second alleged defamatory statement that Appellant directs the Court to is what purports to be a Facebook chat exchange with Gabrielle Gaudette, who worked for Respondent in medical records at some point, and who stated she had heard “that u left bc u called the cops on mrs Alford son.” (R. pp. 283-285). Appellant alleges that the Facebook exchange shows that “Respondent defamed Appellant to unprivileged staff and Appellant’s patients by accusing him of making a false police report.” (R. p. 247, lines 18-19.) Appellant’s Initial Br. at 2. The statement states that Appellant called the police on another employee’s child. Appellant admitted that he called the police on another employee’s child. (R. pp. 191-192, lines 220:18 – 221:15.) *See N.Y. Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 274 (1964) (holding that truth is an absolute defense to a defamation claim). At no point prior to or after Appellant’s termination from Respondent did Respondent accuse him of filing a false police report or making a false or defamatory statement

that he was incompetent in his profession. Appellant has failed to provide any record evidence for the Court to deem otherwise. Further, the messages between Appellant and Ms. Gaudette do not substantiate Appellant's claims because they provide no evidence of who made any allegedly defamatory statements, what was allegedly said, or when such statements were made.

Judge Fant thoroughly reviewed the evidence that Appellant requests the Court review here and properly found that this statement is not defamatory. The Aiken County Court of Common Pleas correctly found and held that none of the statements alleged by Appellant are defamatory in granting summary judgment for Respondent on Appellant's defamation claim. For these reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Fant's December 13, 2024, Order as it relates to the defamation claim.

II. The Court Should Affirm Judge Fant's Ruling Because Appellant's Abuse of Process Claim is Unsupported by Record Evidence.

Judge Fant correctly found that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to Appellant's abuse of process claim after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Appellant. Judge Fant heard and fully considered all the arguments that Appellant continues to make regarding his abuse of process claim and his order granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment thoroughly addresses all of the Appellant's arguments repackaged in Appellant's Initial Brief. Appellant continues to rehash arguments as to his abuse of process claim that are insufficient to overcome summary judgment. For the reasons described below, the Court should affirm Judge Fant's December 13, 2024, Order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent and dismiss Appellant's abuse of process claim.

Under South Carolina law, "[t]he essential elements of abuse of process are: (1) an ulterior purpose; and (2) a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding." *Gregory v. Riley Pope & Laney, LLC*, No. 2015-000740, 2017 WL 4640146, at *2

(S.C. Ct. App. May 3, 2017) (quoting *Johnson v. Painter*, 279 S.C. 390, 391, 307 S.E.2d 860, 860 (S.C. 1983); see also *Hainer v. Am. Med. Int'l, Inc.*, 492 S.E.2d 103, 107 (S.C. 1997) (“There is no liability where the defendant has done nothing more than carry out the process to its authorized conclusion, even though with bad intentions.”)).

Appellant alleges that “Respondent’s representative(s) called the South Carolina Department of Social Services and made a false report against a family who decided to continue medical care services with Appellant rather than Respondent, by falsely alleging that the family was refusing to follow the doctor’s recommendation of getting counseling.” (R. p. 341-342); Appellant’s Initial Br. at 4. According to Appellant, “the parents were contacted by Child Protective Services as a result of this false claim,” and “Respondent utilized the DSS complaint process as a weapon against Appellant’s client for preferring his services after termination.” *Id.* at 4-5. Appellant argues, but provides no supporting evidence, that Respondent or its representative did this “in retaliation for the family choosing to utilize Appellant’s counseling services” after Appellant was terminated. *Id.* Appellant has provided no evidence to support this claim at all.³

Judge Fant correctly found that there was no evidence from which a reasonable jury could find Respondent acted with an ulterior purpose. See R. p. 72. Judge Fant further stated, “The only evidence [Appellant] has that an unknown person allegedly associated with [Respondent] called DSS is that the father and mother allegedly told him. (Holt Dep. at 225:3– 227:11).” *Id.* at lines 11-13. While Appellant continues to allege otherwise, there is no evidence in the record, not even Appellant’s own testimony, supporting that even if a representative of Respondent called DSS,

³ In addition, an alleged report against someone other than Appellant or his family could not possibly harm Appellant, and thus he lacks standing to bring this claim.

such actions were to retaliate against him. In fact, Appellant testified that he does not even know who made the report against him. (R. pp. 195-196, lines 226:22-227:5).

Judge Fant correctly opined, “[a]dditionally, as [Respondent] correctly asserts, [Appellant] has failed to follow the appropriate procedure for bringing a claim for making a false DSS report. *See Barton v. Barton*, 2022 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 819 *4-5 (Jan. 11, 2022.) (stating that “[t]he plain language of § 63-7-430(B) clearly states that a plaintiff may have a civil cause of action (1) ‘if the family court determines pursuant to Section 63-7-2000 that a person has made a false report of suspected child abuse or neglect maliciously or in bad faith’ or (2) if a person has been found guilty of making a false report pursuant to Section 63-7-440.”). Judge Fant properly held that:

Even if [Appellant] could demonstrate [Respondent]’s representative called DSS to retaliate against [Appellant], the essence of the tort of abuse of process centers on events occurring outside the process, and our courts have noted that “[t]he improper purpose usually takes the form of coercion to obtain a collateral advantage, not properly involved in the proceeding itself, such as the surrender of property or the payment of money, by the use of the process as a threat or club.” *Swicegood v. Lott*, 379 S.C. 346, 353, 665 S.E.2d 211, 214 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 206, 209, 153 S.E.2d 693, 694 (1967)). “There is, in other words, a form of extortion, and it is what is done in the course of negotiation, rather than the issuance or any formal use of the process itself, which constitutes the tort.” *Id.* (quoting *Huggins*, 249 S.C. at 209, 153 S.E.2d at 694); *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Westcott Land Co.* 730 S.E.2d 340, 352 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012), cert. denied as to this issue, 764 S.E.2d 701 (S.C. 2014).

R. pp. 72, line 15-p. 72, line 9).

Judge Fant thoroughly reviewed the evidence that Appellant would have the Court review here and correctly held that “[Appellant] has provided no evidence that even if [Respondent]’s representatives called DSS on his patient’s parents, that [Respondent] acted with an ulterior motive.” *Id.* at p. 73, lines 9-11. The lower court correctly found that there is no record evidence to support Appellant’s claim that Respondent sought to gain any kind of collateral advantage over Appellant and granted summary judgment for Respondent on Appellant’s abuse of process claim.

For these reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Fant’s December 13, 2024, Order as it relates to the abuse of process claim.

III. The Court Should Affirm Judge Fant’s Ruling on Appellant’s Interference with Contractual Relationship Claim Because Appellant’s Claim is Unsupported by Record Evidence.

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